RECEIVED 05-12-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 2021AP000327

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

٧.

JOHN W. LANE,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER SUPPRESSING EVIDENCE IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF PORTAGE COUNTY, BRANCH 3, THE HON. THOMAS FLUGAUR PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

LOUIS MOLEPSKE

District Attorney – Portage County

JEDIDIAH J. DODGE

Assistant District Attorney

State Bar #1113139

Attorneys for Plaintiff- Respondent

Office of the District Attorney

1516 Church St.

Stevens Point, WI 54481

(715) 346-1300

(715) 346-1236 (Fax)

jedidiah.dodge@da.wi.gov

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the trial court erred on December 4, 2020, when it suppressed all evidence obtained and observations made by City of Stevens Point Police Department Officer Justin Klein after a traffic stop on the defendant's vehicle was conducted on August 21, 2017, because the officer lacked reasonable cause for the traffic stop.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The plaintiff-appellant, State of Wisconsin (State), requests neither oral argument nor publication.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The challenge by the State is limited to the trial court's finding that the officer lacked reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop on the Defendant. "Whether there was probable cause or reasonable suspicion to conduct a stop is a question of constitutional fact, which is a mixed question of law and fact to which we apply a two-step standard of review." *In re Refusal of Anagnos*, 2012 WI 64, ¶ 21, 341 Wis. 2d 576, 815 N.W. 2d 675 (2012), quoting *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 8, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W. 2d 634. "First, we review the circuit court's findings of historical fact under the clearly erroneous standard." *Id.* "Second, we

review the application of those historical facts to the constitutional principles independent of the determinations rendered by the circuit court and the court of appeals." *Id*.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State of Wisconsin filed a criminal complaint against the defendant, John W. Lane, on September 14, 2017. (4: 1-3; A-AP 001-003). The complaint alleged that on or about Monday, August 21, 2017, in the City of Stevens Point, Portage County, Wisconsin, Lane drove a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant, as a third offense, contrary to sec. 346.63(1)(a), 346.65(2)(am)3 Wis. Stats., and drove a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration of 0.08 or more, to-wit: did have a blood alcohol level of .130, as a third offense, contrary to sec. 346.63(1)(b), 346.6(2)(am)4 Wis. Stats. (4:1; A-AP 001).

According to the complaint, on August 21, 2017, at 2:10 A.M., Officer Klein of the Stevens Point Police Department was travelling North on I-39, a four-lane highway, when he saw a motorcycle go from the right lane over the white dotted line into the left lane, then travel quickly back to the right lane, without signaling any lane changes. (4:2; A-AP-002). Klein stopped the motorcycle and identified the driver as the defendant, John W. Lane. (4:2; A-AP-002). Officer Klein immediately smelled a strong odor of alcohol and saw that Lane's eyes were bloodshot and glassy. (4:2; A-AP-002). Lane stated that he was coming from Morey's Bar and had consumed one beer there. Officer Klein conducted field sobriety tests, and based on observations during those tests, arrested Lane for OWI. (4:2; A-AP-002).

On April 27, 2018, Officer Justin Klein testified at a motion hearing. A portion of Officer Klein's testimony concerned the basis for the stop of Lane's motorcycle on August 21, 2017. Officer Klein testified that he observed Lane leave Morey's Bar, late at night/early in the morning. (74:7; A-AP-010). Officer Klein stopped Lane's motorcycle because he saw Lane "was initially in the right hand lane, went over

to the left-hand lane, no signal, then back over to the right hand-lane." (74:5; A-AP-008). Klein admitted that Lane only deviated from the lane one time, and Klein admitted he saw no other concerning driving behavior. (74:6; A-AP-009). Officer Klein ultimately wrote a citation for unsafe lane deviation to Lane. (74:22; A-AP-025). Klein asked Lane where he was coming from, and Lane said he was coming from "Stevens Point." (74:7; A-AP-010). Klein then asked Lane for a specific location, and Lane lied, saying that he was coming from the Post Office where he works. (74:7; A-AP-010). Klein said he initially observed Lane coming out of the parking lot of Morey's Bar. (74:7; A-AP-010). Lane initially said he did not have anything to drink there, but after Klein told Lane he could smell alcohol coming from him, Lane admitted he had "one beer." (74:8; A-AP-011). During this encounter, Officer Klein observed that Lane's "speech was slurred," he had "blood shot and glassy eyes," and "I could also smell the odor of alcohol coming from his breath as he spoke to me." (74:6; A-AP-009). These observations led Officer Klein to conduct field sobriety testing, and ultimately he arrested Lane for OWI 3^{rd} .

The complaint also stated that Officer Klein transported Lane to St. Michael's Hospital where Lane consented to a blood draw upon the officer's request. Hospital staff member, Tricia Wierzba, drew two samples of Lane's blood and placed them into the legal blood kit. Once the kit was sealed, she handed it back to Officer Klein who later sent the kit to the State Lab of Hygiene for testing. (4:2; A-AP-002).

Lane was transported to the Portage County Jail where he was booked in for OWI 3rd, and at that time he submitted to a preliminary breath test, which showed a result of .130%. (4:2; A-AP-002).

The case before the court has a lengthy procedural history. On November 22, 2017, the Defendant filed multiple Motions to Suppress. A Motion Hearing was then held on April 27, 2018. On July 24, 2018, the court granted the

Motion to Suppress Blood Test Result based on Withdrawn Consent. This ruling was appealed to the Court of Appeals where the Court reversed the circuit court and remanded the case back to the circuit court on December 3, 2019.

Lane's attorney filed motions to reconsider numerous motions on March 4, 2020. Among these was a motion to suppress evidence relating to Officer Klein's stop and arrest of Lane. (50:1-5; A-AP-052-056) This is the motion at issue in this appeal. Lane argues that because no traffic offense occurred and since no traffic offense occurred, the stop was unreasonable and any evidence from the stop should be suppressed. (50:4-5; A-AP-055-056).

The circuit court held a motion hearing regarding the motion to suppress on August 26, 2020. Testimony from Officer Klein was not taken during this motion hearing but the court viewed the video from Officer Klein's squad car prior to the hearing. (76:15; A-AP-071). The court stated that it observed the defendant driving close to the center line and make one slight lane deviation. The court stated as soon as that happened, the lights of the squad car turned on and Officer Klein conducted a traffic stop. (76:15; A-AP-071). The court stated that if the defendant brought the case to trial on an unsafe lane deviation, the defendant would be found to be not guilty. (76:18; A-AP-074). The court indicated that the law for unsafe lane deviation states that a driver is supposed to signal when the driver moves from one lane to the next and it cannot be done safely; otherwise, signaling is not required. (76:18; A-AP-074). The court heard arguments from the State and from the defendant's attorney. At the end of the motion hearing, the court asked that the parties submit briefs to the court to determine if reasonable suspicion existed to pull over Lane, without the traffic violation. (76:31; A-AP-087).

The circuit court held a decision hearing on December 4, 2020. At this decision hearing the court stated that the traffic stop of Lane, based on unsafe lane deviation, was not objectively reasonable. (77:3; A-AP-092). The court stated that Officer Klein began pursing Lane after midnight, as

Lane left Morey's bar. (77:4; A-AP-093). Officer Klein followed Lane through several turns and onto the interstate but observed no traffic violations. (77:4; A-AP-093). The court found that Officer Klein lacked reasonable cause for the stop of lane and that all evidence derived following the stop was obtain and should be suppressed. (77:7-8; A-Ap-096-097). The court held that there was no traffic violation and the mistake of law was not reasonable. (77:4; A-AP-093).

ARGUMENT

The issue presented before the court is whether the officer had reasonable suspicion to pull over the vehicle driven by John Lane on August 21, 2017. (4:2; A-AP-002). Officer Klein observed John Lane leave Morey's Bar during the early morning hours on August 21, 2017. (4:2; A-AP-002). Officer Klein followed John Lane from Morey's Bar onto I-39. (4:2; A-AP-002). While the two vehicles were on I-39, Officer Klein observed John Lane "suddenly swerve into the other lane briefly and then swerve back." (76:25; A-AP-081).

A. Reasonable Suspicion

A police officer may, under certain circumstances, temporarily detain a person for purposes of investigating possible criminal behavior even though there is not probable cause to make an arrest. State v. Dumstrev, 2016 WI 3, ¶ 17, 366 Wis. 2d 64 (2016). In the seminal case which has defined investigatory searches, the US Supreme Court decided "a police officer may in appropriate circumstances and in an appropriate manner approach a person for purposes of investigating possibly criminal behavior even though there is no probable cause to make an arrest." Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, at 22, 88 S.CT 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968). In order to justify such a seizure, police must have reasonable suspicion that a crime or violation has been or will be committed; that is, "the police officer must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion." *Id.* at 21. A *Terry* stop cannot be lawfully based on an officer's bare hunch.

In determining if an investigatory traffic stop is supported by reasonable suspicion, an officer must point to specific and articulable facts, which taken together with rational inferences, reasonably warrants the traffic stop. *In re Refusal of Anagnos*, 341 Wis. 2d 576, ¶ 48, 815 N.W. 2d 675(2012), citing *State v. Post*, 301 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 10, 733 N.W.2d 634 (2007). Reasonable suspicion is an objective test that determines what a reasonable police officer would reasonably suggest in light of his or her training and experience. *Id.* at ¶60. The Court must look at the totality of the circumstances to determine whether reasonable suspicion exists. *State v. Jackson*, 147 Wis. 2d 824, at 833-834, 434 N.W.2d 386 (1989).

The State concedes that Officer Klein testified he stopped the vehicle for unsafe lane deviation rather than Operating While Intoxicated. But the motivation or subjective reason of the stopping officer is not a relevant factor in determining the Fourth Amendment reasonableness of a traffic stop since an objective standard is used to judge the Fourth Amendment reasonableness of such a stop. An officer's subjective reason for stopping a vehicle does not create a Fourth Amendment violation as long as there was a legally permissible justification to stop the vehicle. *Anagnos*, 2012 WI at ¶ 60.

The principal function of a *Terry* stop is to resolve the ambiguity of the defendant's suspicious conduct and to establish whether the defendant's suspicious activity/conduct is legal or illegal. *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, at 60, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996); *Jackson*, 147 Wis. 2d 824, at 835. Suspicious activity justifying an investigative stop is, by its very nature, ambiguous. Unlawful behavior may be present or it may not. The behavior may be innocent. Still, officers have the right to temporarily freeze the situation so as to investigate further.

State v. Krier, 165 Wis. 2d 673, at 678, 478 N.W. 2d 63 (1991); State v. Guzy, 139 Wis. 2d at 676, 407 N.W. 2d 548 (1987).

The Waldner court pointed out that the focus is the reasonableness of the officer's intrusion into the defendant's freedom of movement. The reasonableness requirement involves a common sense test. Waldner, at 56 (citing State v. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, at 83, 454 N.W. 2d 763 (1990). The question is "what would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience." Id.

Many cases have addressed the facts necessary to create a reasonable suspicion. In State v. Post, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that weaving within a single lane does not rise to reasonable suspicion on its own. However, the Court held that under the totality of the circumstances, including weaving within the single lane, there was reasonable suspicion to conduct an investigatory traffic stop. Post, 301 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 37 (2007). The officer in Post observed no traffic violation, but observed the defendant's vehicle driving in an S-type pattern within the lane for about two blocks. Id., at ¶¶5-6.

In *Waldner*, the officer observed the driver at a slow speed, then stop briefly where there was no stop sign, then accelerate at a high rate of speed (20-25mph). The officer then observed the driver stop and pour out a mixture of liquid and ice onto the ground. Waldner, at 53. The officer in Waldner agreed there was no traffic violation. The Waldner court found that under the totality of the circumstances, the officer had reasonable suspicion of OWI. Id.

In a non-OWI case, State v. Jackson, the Wisconsin Supreme Court addressed the issue of flight of a person who sees a police officer. In Jackson, the officer responding to a call saw a person run away upon seeing him. The officer did not catch this person, but learned from another person that the individual who fled had warrants. The officer testified that he later stopped a person matching his description to find out "if he was the party that I had chased and possibly had warrants." *Jackson*, at 826. The Court ruled that lawful behavior, i.e. flight from police, can create a reasonable suspicion, but that it depends on the totality of the circumstances. In this case, the Court determined that there was a reasonable suspicion that Jackson either did commit, was committing, or was about to commit a crime. *Jackson*, at 835.

Officer Klein's traffic stop is supported by reasonable suspicion. There are specific and articulable facts, under the totality of the circumstances, which created reasonable suspicion. Lane was observed leaving a bar in the early morning hours. This alone would not create a reasonable suspicion, as not every person who has consumed alcohol is impaired. But Officer Klein could have reasonably inferred from where Lane was leaving and the time of night/morning, that there was a distinct possibility Lane had consumed alcohol. Officer Klein followed and observed Lane and only stopped him when he observed him swerve abruptly from the right lane, into the passing lane, and back into the right lane. This driving behavior create a reasonable suspicion that Lane's "ability to safely control the vehicle" was impaired. Based on the totality of the circumstances, Officer Klein had reasonable suspicion that Lane was operating under the influence.

CONCLUSION

The State asserts that Officer Klein had sufficient reasonable suspicion, based on the totality of the circumstances to conduct an investigatory traffic stop on Lane's vehicle on August 21, 2017. As a result, the State moves the Court of Appeals to reverse the circuit court's suppression of any evidence that was obtained after the traffic stop for the reasons provided.