RECEIVED
06-08-2021
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 21 AP 327 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

JOHN WILLIAM LANE,

Defendant-Respondent.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON FEBRUARY 12, 2021, BY THE PORTAGE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE PATRICIA BAKER PRESIDING.

Respectfully submitted,

JOHN WILLIAM LANE, Defendant-Respondent

TRACEY WOOD & ASSOCIATES Attorneys for the Defendant 6605 University Avenue, Suite 101 Middleton, Wisconsin 53562 (608) 661-6300

BY: TEUTA JONUZI State Bar No. 1098168

TRACEY A. WOOD State Bar No. 1020766

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. WHETHER OFFICER KLEIN HAD REASONABLE SUSPICION TO STOP MR. LANE'S MOTORCYCLE.

CIRCUIT COURT HELD: NO.

II. ASSUMING THERE WAS NO REASONABLE SUSPCION TO STOP MR. LANE, WHETHER A REASONABLE MISTAKE OF LAW EXISTED.

CIRCUIT COURT HELD: NO.

## STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-respondent does not request publication of the opinion in this appeal.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument would be appropriate in this case only if the Court concludes that the briefs have not fully presented the issues being raised on appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal by the prosecution from the trial court order granting Mr. Lane's motion to suppress and for reconsideration, in which he moved to suppress evidence derived from his unlawful stop.

On August 21, 2017, Officer Justin Klein stopped Mr. Lane's motorcycle for a supposed violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.34(1)(a)3.<sup>1</sup> He ultimately arrested Mr. Lane for operating while under the influence of an intoxicant ("OWI").<sup>2</sup> After the officer read Mr. Lane the Informing the Accused form, Mr. Lane submitted to a blood test.<sup>3</sup> Officer Klein took Mr. Lane to the hospital, where his blood was drawn.<sup>4</sup>

On September 14, 2017, the Portage County District Attorney's Office charged Mr. Lane with operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, both as a third offense.<sup>5</sup> On November 22, 2017, Mr. Lane moved to suppress his unlawful stop, along with other motions not relevant to this appeal.<sup>6</sup>

On April 27, 2018, the Honorable Thomas Flugaur presided over an evidentiary hearing on the unlawful stop motion. At the hearing, Officer Klein testified that he was on patrol at night on August 21, 2017, when he observed a motorcycle leave Morley's Bar.<sup>7</sup> He testified that after following the motorcycle for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> R.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> *Id.* at 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> R.21; R.24; R.20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> R.74 at 21.

approximately ¾ of a mile, he observed the bike cross the centerline on I-39 from the right lane. 8 The motorcycle then promptly reentered the right lane. It did not signal. This maneuver was done once. No other vehicles were in the vicinity. Officer Klein's squad vehicle was at least a few hundred yards behind Mr. Lane. 11 Officer Klein did not note any other traffic violations. 12

On July 24, 2018, the court presided over a decision hearing. The court noted that the lane deviation for which Officer Klein stopped Mr. Lane allowed an individual to deviate from a lane when it is reasonably safe to do so. <sup>13</sup> However, the court ruled that based upon *State v. Houghton* and *Heien v. North Carolina*, the officer's mistake regarding Wis. Stat. § 346.34(1)(a) was a reasonable mistake of law. <sup>14</sup> The court denied Mr. Lane's motion.

On March 4, 2020, Mr. Lane filed a motion for reconsideration on the motion to suppress. <sup>15</sup> In the motion, Mr. Lane noted that the court's ruling that Officer Klein made a reasonable mistake of law did not follow the Supreme Court's holding in *State v. Houghton*. More specifically, that Officer Klein failed to testify about what his subjective belief was of the conduct barred by Wis. Stat. § 346.34(1)(a). Mr. Lane also noted that the mistake of law must be objectively reasonable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> *Id.* at 5; 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> *Id.* at 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> *Id.* at 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> *Id.* at 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> R.75 at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> *Id.* at 7; *Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, 363 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143; *Heien*, 135 S. Ct. 530 (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> R.50.

On August 26, 2020, the court presided over a motion hearing on the motion for reconsideration. With respect to the unlawful stop, the court noted:

I, in watching the video, watched it carefully, I watched it several times once again to refresh my recollection. The defendant was driving his motorcycle near the center line towards the middle or towards the left side of the lane, kind of hugging the center line, which I indicated before is commonly done by motorcyclists when there is not people around them. . . Certainly nothing improper about that. And there is just one, from what I could see, one slight lane deviation, if you will, going from the right lane into the left lane just momentarily, and then back from the left back into the right. <sup>16</sup>

The court continued, noting that the lane deviation was not unsafe and an individual could "go into the left lane or back into the right lane . . without signalling [sic] and it's not a violation of law." Mr. Lane argued that based on *Houghton*, the mistake of law was not reasonable, as there was no ambiguity in the statute on lane deviation. The court ruled that based on *Houghton* and *State v. Anagnos*, the officer did not make a reasonable mistake of law, thereby reversing its prior decision. The court ordered briefing on the issue of whether reasonable suspicion existed without the reasonable mistake of law.

On September 15, 2020, Mr. Lane filed his brief. In his brief, he relied upon an unpublished case, *State v. Vanderlinden*, to argue that Officer Klein could not reasonably infer that Mr. Lane operated while intoxicated based on the fact that he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> R.76 at 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> *Id.* at 18; 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> *Id.* at 23; 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> *Id.* at 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> *Id.* at 31.

left a bar at night or early morning.<sup>21</sup> On September 16, 2020, the State filed its brief.<sup>22</sup> The State argued that lawful behavior can support reasonable suspicion to stop a vehicle, relying upon *State v. Waldner* and *State v. Post*.<sup>23</sup> On September 16, 2020, Mr. Lane filed a supplemental letter brief.<sup>24</sup> In that brief, Mr. Lane argued that neither *State v. Post* nor *State v. Waldner* supported Mr. Lane's traffic stop.<sup>25</sup>

On December 4, 2020, the court presided over a decision hearing. At the hearing, the court reiterated its previous ruling, that the lane deviation was not an objectively reasonable mistake of law.<sup>26</sup> The court continued:

The relevant facts in this case are pretty simple and pretty straightforward[.].. Officer Klein first began pursuing Mr. Lane's motorcycle in the early morning hours. It would be after midnight. He then observed Mr. Lane's motorcycle as it left the parking lot of the Morey's Bar. He followed it through several turns and onto streets that led to the interstate. And he observed no traffic violations, either getting onto the interstate or while Mr. Lane was operating his motorcycle on the interstate, until, as I described at the last hearing, he was driving his motorcycle close to the center line, which is not that uncommon to see motorcyclists do. And he followed Mr. Lane for approximately three quarters of a mile. And there was the turning of the vehicle over the center line and then quickly back into its lane of traffic. There was no signal. And that was the reason described by Officer Klein for stopping. In fact, when you watch the video, he's behind Mr. Lane. Mr. Lane goes across the line. And it's a [sic] momentary. It probably is for a second, it might be two at most. And as soon as he gets back into his lane of traffic, you can see the reflections on the road signs light up. The officer turned on his emergency lights immediately after that happened.<sup>27</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> *State v. Vanderlinden*, 2016 WI App 75, ¶ 13, 371 Wis. 2d 759, 886 N.W.2d 592 (unpublished but citable).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> R.60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> *Id.*; *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634; *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> R.61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> *Id.*; *Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 24; *Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d at 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> R.77 at 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> *Id.* at 4-5.

Ultimately, the court ruled that under the totality of the circumstances, there was not reasonable suspicion to stop Mr. Lane for operating while impaired. The court noted, "What we are left with here is a case in which you have somebody leaving a bar after midnight. And certainly there is nothing illegal or really nothing there... Has not committed any traffic violations. Closest thing they did was swerve, if you will, over the lane of traffic, over the center line momentarily, and then back. And having complete control of his motorcycle, never losing control." The court noted this driving maneuver was not perfect, "but drivers are not expected or required to be perfect."

On February 12, 2021, the Court entered an order granting Mr. Lane's motion on the unlawful stop. On February 16, 2021, the State appealed to this Court. On May 12, 2021, the State filed its initial brief to this Court. Mr. Lane now responds.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Mr. Lane respectfully requests that this Court uphold the circuit court's granting of his motion to suppress based on unlawful stop.

# I. OFFICER KLEIN DID NOT MAKE A REASONABLE MISTAKE OF LAW.

#### A. Standard of Review

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> *Id.* at 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> *Id.* at 8-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> *Id.* at 8.

An appellate court upholds a circuit court's findings of facts unless they are clearly erroneous.<sup>31</sup> The appellate court independently reviews whether those facts meet the constitutional standard.<sup>32</sup>

# B. The circuit court properly concluded that Officer Klein's mistake was not reasonable.

The State failed to address reasonable mistake of law in its initial brief. Accordingly, any further argument by the State is waived.<sup>33</sup> Should the Court find that it is not waived, Mr. Lane addresses the argument below.

In *State v. Houghton*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court examined whether an officer's interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 346.88 constituted a reasonable mistake of law.<sup>34</sup> The statute in question prohibited any object that obstructed the driver's clear view through the front windshield.<sup>35</sup> After determining a mistake of law existed, the Court examined whether it was reasonable.<sup>36</sup> The Court relied on the concurrence in *Heien*.<sup>37</sup> In the concurrence, Justice Kagan determined a reasonable mistake of law existed if the statute was "genuinely ambiguous."<sup>38</sup> The majority in *Heien* also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> State v. Johnson, 2007 WI 32, ¶ 13, 299 Wis.2d 675, 729 N.W.2d 182.

 $<sup>^{32}</sup>$  **Id**.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> See Charolais Breeding Ranches, Ltd. v. FPC Sec. Corp., 90 Wis. 2d 97, 109, 279 N.W.2d 493 (Ct. App. 1979) ("Respondents on appeal cannot complain if propositions of appellants are taken as confessed which they do not undertake to refute.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> 2015 WI 79, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> *Id.* ¶ 70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> *Id.* ¶ 68-70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> *Id.*  $\P$  68 (internal citation and quotations omitted).

considered whether previous caselaw interpreted the statute, as that took away from the ambiguity.<sup>39</sup>

In the circuit court, the court noted that *State v. Anagnos* interpreted Wis. Stat. § 346.34(1)(a)3.<sup>40</sup> In *Anagnos*, the Court ruled that the defendant did not violate the statute when he made a left turn without signaling when there was no oncoming traffic or pedestrians present when he turned.<sup>41</sup> As the statute here was not ambiguous and because caselaw interpreted Wis. Stat. § 346.34(1)(a)3, the mistake of law was not objectively reasonable.

In examining *Heien* and *Houghton*, the mistake here was not objectively reasonable. First, in examining the language of the statute, Wis. Stat. § 346.34(1)(a)3, states:

No person may turn a vehicle from a direct course or move right or left upon a roadway unless and until such movement can be made with reasonable safety.<sup>42</sup>

The language of the statute allows movement from one lane to the other when safe to do so. The *State v. Anagnos* decision was well-established at the time Officer Klein stopped Mr. Lane's motorcycle.<sup>43</sup> In fact, the Court may take judicial notice that the case is part of the annotated statutes. Accordingly, the circuit court properly determined Officer Klein did not make a reasonable mistake of law.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> *Id.* ¶ 70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> R.76 at 27; 2011 WI App 118, 337 Wis. 2d 57, 805 N.W.2d 722 (reversed on other grounds).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Anagnos, 2011 WI App 118, ¶ 46, 337 Wis. 2d 57, 805 N.W.2d 722.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Wis. Stat. § 346.34(1)(a)3 (2018-19).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> R.76 at 27.

# II. REASONABLE SUSPICION DID NOT EXIST TO STOP MR. LANE.

#### A. Standard of Review

Whether a court properly interprets and applies a statute is a question of law reviewed de novo, but "while benefitting from the analyses of the court of appeals and circuit court." A circuit court's findings are subject to a clearly erroneous standard of review. An appellate court reviews application of historical facts to constitutional claims independently of the circuit court's analysis.

# B. Under *State v. Post* and *State v. Waldner*, there was no reasonable suspicion that Mr. Lane operated while impaired.

The State concedes that the circuit court properly found that Officer Klein made a reasonable mistake of law. Accordingly, Mr. Lane focuses on whether reasonable suspicion existed without the reasonable mistake of law.

Mr. Lane agrees with the State that *State v. Post* and *State v. Waldner* apply here.<sup>47</sup> In *State v. Waldner*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court reviewed whether reasonable suspicion existed in a situation where no traffic violation occurred.<sup>48</sup> The driver of the vehicle drove at 12:30 a.m. slowly down the road, then accelerated

<sup>44 118</sup>th St. Kenosha, LLC v. DOT, 2014 WI 125, ¶ 19, 359 Wis. 2d 30, 856 N.W.2d

<sup>486 (</sup>internal quotations omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> State v. Floyd, 2017 WI 78, ¶ 11, 377 Wis. 2d 394, 898 N.W.2d 560.

<sup>46</sup> **I**d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 2, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 57, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996).

Case 2021AP000327 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-08-2021 Page 15 of 22

suddenly, then stopped at an intersection with no stoplights, then parked and dumped a plastic cup of liquid and ice onto the roadway.<sup>49</sup> The Court ruled that the facts together equated reasonable suspicion of operating while impaired.<sup>50</sup>

In *State v. Post*, the Supreme Court held that while the driving behavior did not supply reasonable suspicion, under the totality of the circumstances, there was reasonable suspicion to initiate a traffic stop.<sup>51</sup> More specifically, the Court held that the driver's drifting from the parking lane to the center line in an S-type manner for approximately two blocks provided reasonable suspicion for operating while impaired.<sup>52</sup>

Mr. Lane's case is distinguishable from those of the appellants in *Waldner* and *Post*. The following information was available to Officer Klein. First, Mr. Lane left Morey's Bar at midnight or so. Second, that Mr. Lane, in negotiating the curve of the roadway while on his motorcycle, went from his lane into the left lane, then went back into his lane without signaling.<sup>53</sup> Unlike in *Post*, Mr. Lane did not travel in an unusual manner for two blocks. Unlike the appellant in *Waldner*, there was one single instance of unusual driving behavior, not three. Moreover, the court found it was benign driving behavior.<sup>54</sup> A circuit court's findings may not be disturbed unless clearly erroneous.<sup>55</sup>

<sup>49</sup> *Id.* at 60-61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> *Id.* at 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> *Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> *Id.* ¶ 30-31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> R.76 at 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> R.75 at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> *Johnson*, 2007 WI 32, ¶ 13.

Case 2021AP000327 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-08-2021 Page 16 of 22

Moreover, it is not enough that Officer Klein observed Mr. Lane leave a bar in the early morning hours.<sup>56</sup> There must be specific, articulable facts to believe he was impaired. The State's brief notes, "Officer Klein could have reasonable inferred from where Lane was leaving and the time of night/morning, that there was a distinct possibility Lane had consumed alcohol."57 The State then continues, noting that after following Mr. Lane and observing him swerve abruptly from the right lane, into the passing lane, and back into the right lane, the officer had reasonable suspicion "that Lane's 'ability to safely control the vehicle' was impaired." 58 Again, the question is whether there was reasonable suspicion of a crime, not of consuming alcohol. The State concedes there was no reasonable suspicion in leaving the bar in the early morning hours. Adding the single maneuver of the vehicle into the analysis does not alter the conclusion that there was no reasonable suspicion of OWI. The State does not challenge the circuit court's finding that Mr. Lane's maneuver was safe. Because the maneuver was safe, Officer Klein had no reasonable suspicion of impaired driving.

It is evident that Officer Klein initiated a stop based upon a hunch of operating while impaired. Based on the limited facts, there was no reasonable inference that Mr. Lane operated while impaired. Consequently, the traffic stop was unreasonable and violated the Fourth Amendment.

<sup>56</sup> State's Brief at 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> *Id.* at 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> *Id* 

Case 2021AP000327 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-08-2021 Page 17 of 22

## **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, Mr. Lane respectfully requests that this Court uphold the circuit court's order granting his suppression motion.